JAN 1 4 2013

OUGH OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON Ru

NO. 31117-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

10 NORTH WASHINGTON AVENUE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF RICHLAND, a municipal corporation,

Respondent

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MINNICK • HAYNER, P.S.

BRANDON L. JOHNSON, WSBA #30837 P.O. Box 1757/249 West Alder Walla Walla, WA 99362 (509) 527-3500

CARMAN LAW OFFICE, INC.

JOHN C. JULIAN, WSBA #43214 6 E. Alder Street, Ste. 418 Walla Walla, WA 99362 (509) 529-1018



JAN 1 4 2013

OPERI OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

NO. 31117-1-III

COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In a 2008 Real Estate Purchase and Sales Agreement, 10 North Washington Avenue, LLC (10 NWA) contracted to purchase a 33 acre tract of land from the City of Richland (City) located on the City's Horn Rapids Spur industrial track. 10 NWA intended to develop this land as a transloading and biofuels facility which required access by rail. As fully disclosed to the City, 10 NWA intended to utilize its sister company, Tri-City Railroad Company, LLC (TCRY) to provide rail service to this property. TCRY was able to access the facility over the Horn Rapids Spur under a Temporary Service Agreement (TSA) with the City in place since 2001.

The TSA contemplated being replaced by a permanent track use agreement, to be negotiated in good faith. In 2010, the City terminated the TSA. That action deprived 10 NWA of its rail service provider. The City was aware that because 10 NWA relied on TCRY for rail service to the property, termination of the TSA would place additional pressure on TCRY to relinquish TCRY's rights to a section of track at Center Parkway on the line leased by TCRY from the Port of Benton. The City sought to pressure TCRY to agree to that crossing as part of a new agreement which would allow TCRY to continue operations on Horn Rapids Spur and

service to the 10 NWA property. TCRY refused, and 10 NWA was deprived of rail service.

The termination of the temporary service agreement resulted in a loss of business for 10 NWA and diminished the value of its property. 10 NWA brought suit against the City asserting claims of Inverse Condemnation, Regulatory Taking, Breach of Contract Including Duty of Good Faith and Fair Dealing, and Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations. Damages were to be proven at trial. The city moved for summary judgment as to all grounds. The trial court granted the motion, and denied a subsequent motion for reconsideration.

This case comes before this Court on appeal from the proceedings below.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred in granting Respondent's summary
 judgment motion below as to Plaintiff's tortious interference
 claims because sufficient evidence in the record either
 conclusively established, or presented a genuine issue of
 material fact, as to all elements of the claim.
- The trial court erred in granting Respondent's summary judgment motion below as to Plaintiff's inverse condemnation

- claim because sufficient evidence in the record either conclusively established, or presented a genuine issue of material fact, as to all elements of the claim.
- The trial court abused its discretion in denying Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration in light of the record before it.

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to Plaintiff's tortious interference claims where the evidence in the record raised at a minimum a genuine issue of material fact?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to Plaintiff's inverse condemnation claim where sufficient evidence was before it to defeat Respondent's summary judgment motion?
- 3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion in denying Plaintiff's motion for reconsideration?

IV. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

A. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

10 North Washington Avenue, LLC (10 NWA) is a Washington company, formed in 2006. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 135-36. It is owned by the Peterson family, and provides administrative services to other companies owned by the Peterson family, including Tri-City Railroad Company (TCRY). CP at 136-37. TCRY is a "short line" railroad which operates in Benton County, Washington on track leased long-term from the Port of Benton. CP at 132-34. TCRY provides rail freight service to local companies through interchange of railcars with interstate railroads. CP 133-134.

In December, 2001, the City of Richland (City) and TCRY entered a Temporary Service Agreement (TSA), which granted TCRY the right to use the City's Horn Rapids Spur. CP at 26-27, 142. The Spur is a set of tracks that runs about one and one-half miles through the Horn Rapids Industrial Park. CP at 176. Under the TSA, the City permitted TCRY to operate over the Horn Rapids Spur to provide rail service to customers located on that track. CP at 26-27. TCRY was required to conduct an initial track inspection, report on its condition to the City, advise the City

of needed repairs and periodically inspect the track as required by the Federal Railroad Administration. CP at 26.

The TSA could be terminated by either party on 10 days written notice. CP at 26. However, in the TSA, the parties agreed to negotiate in good faith an industrial track agreement to replace the TSA. CP at 27.

The TSA was still in effect seven years later when, in May 2008, 10 NWA entered into the Agreement to purchase 33 acres of vacant land in the Horn Rapids Industrial Park from the City for \$660,000. CP at 29-37. The Agreement expressly provided that the purpose of the land purchase was to enable 10 NWA to build a facility for transloading commodities between rail to truck and for biofuel production. CP at 33.

In light of the intended uses of the property, as a condition precedent to the sale, the Agreement required 10 NWA to prepare a Rail Management Plan (RMP) identifying rail traffic requirements and measures to mitigate rail traffic's impact on vehicle and pedestrian traffic through the City. CP at 30. The Agreement expressly provided that if the plan was approved by the City, it would become binding upon 10 NWA as a covenant to the property. CP at 30.

¹ Transloading is the process of transferring a shipment of freight from one mode of transportation to another; in this instance, from train to truck or truck to train.

In July, 2008, 10 NWA finalized its RMP as prepared by TCRY. CP at 49-59. The RMP contemplated that 10 NWA would construct additional track on its 33 acres in two phases. CP at 54. Specifically, it stated:

Phase One:

This includes building the new 500 foot rail siding and a new subsurface pit for commodities to drop into and then be removed by way of mechanical feeders. The effort will commence during the late summer and early fall of this year. The transload operator will then remove the product for stockpiling using their 12 acres of land within the overall 33-acres purchased by 10 NWA. They will employ mechanical feeders, equipment, and storage facilities. The operator will operate the business of handling and retransport of the commodities.

Phase Two:

This includes the construction of a circle or loop track around the perimeter of the 33-acre property to add more efficiency to the railroad delivery as business dictates. This allows the Unit Trains to circle the Transload operation, in continuous motion, as the contents of each railcar is discharged in the subsurface pit.

CP at 54.

The RMP was accepted by the City on August 13, 2008, and became binding upon both 10 NWA and TCRY once the sale closed on August 15, 2008.² CP at 41. In its letter accepting the RMP, the City

² The RMP is binding upon TCRY by virtue of the fact that it is binding upon any railroad that agrees to do business with 10 NWA. To date, there exist no other RMPs for any other property in the Horn Rapids Industrial Park, and no other railroad has agreed to abide by the RMP. CP at 473.

stated that a "more detailed agreement" would need to be implemented in order to ensure that the track was maintained appropriately. CP at 41.

Nothing was stated about any alternative reasons necessitating a permanent agreement. CP at 41.

Shortly thereafter, 10 NWA sold the 12 acre lot contemplated by Phase One of the RMP to Central Washington Corn Processors (Corn Processors). CP at 138-39, 151. 10 NWA then built railroad track improvements (including switches and a siding allowing access to the property from the Horn Rapids Spur), a railroad off-loading facility, a truck off-loading facility, and roads to the land. CP at 155. By putting this infrastructure in place, 10 NWA enabled delivery of commodities to the 10 NWA property and to Corn Processors, which constructed a grain processing facility on its land. CP at 156. These improvements were contemplated by the RMP accepted by City for the uses outlined in the Purchase and Sale Agreement. CP at 33.

10 NWA expended more than \$5,739,423 in these improvements in anticipation of the business that would be generated while utilizing TCRY's carrier services on a daily basis. CP at 422, 425.

In August, 2009, 10 NWA signed a Letter of Intent with Gen-X

Energy Group, Inc. (Gen-X) wherein the parties committed to joint

development and construction of a biofuels production facility on the 10

NWA property and rail loop. CP at 421. The project required rail service, which was to be provided by TCRY. CP at 421. The City was expressly aware of this arrangement by the press announcement of the arrangement, which stated that Gen-X was to build on 10 NWA's land, and to receive railroad service provided by TCRY. CP at 540-41.

In early 2011, City reached a permanent Track Use Agreement with the Burlington Northern Santa Fe (BNSF) and the Union Pacific Railroad (UP), which authorized those railroads to utilize the Horn Rapids Spur in exchange for giving up their rights to Richland Junction, near Columbia Center, where BNSF and UP interchanged railcars with TCRY. CP at 63. As a part of its efforts, City also informed TCRY that it was terminating its access to the Horn Rapids Spur under the TSA, and that in order to continue to use that spur TCRY must enter into a permanent Track Use Agreement. CP at 46. The Track Use Agreement required that TCRY relinquish its rights to Richland Junction and allow an at-grade crossing there in exchange for use of the Horn Rapids Spur. CP at 72. Importantly, the City understood that the termination of rail access placed additional pressure on 10 NWA because it depended on TCRY to provide

³ At a minimum, the City became aware of the agreement when its agent Pete Rogalsky received, and responded to, a copy of the press release at his City of Richland email address. CP at 540-41.

carrier service, and because both companies were within the same family of Peterson Companies. CP at 537.

TCRY refused the agreement because it felt that it could not unilaterally relinquish its rights to Richland Junction without breaching its contract with UP, and because it felt that City's efforts were beyond its authority. CP at 61-65. In its refusal, TCRY also informed City that it was under an obligation to provide services to 10 NWA, and that City's attempts to coerce it to give up its rights to Richland Junction were wrongful. CP at 62, 64. Nevertheless, the City terminated the TSA, thereby precluding TCRY from operating on the Spur, and depriving 10 NWA of the service carrier contemplated under the RMP accepted by the City. Because TCRY was unable to guarantee rail access, 10 NWA was also forced to break its agreement with Gen-X, thereby losing the benefit of that arrangement as well. CP at 421. As a result, the new Gen-X facility was constructed in Moses Lake. CP at 165.4

Despite a loss of access as an independent carrier, TCRY continues limited operations along the Horn Rapids Spur as an agent of UP. CP at 74. 10 NWA's facility still operates as well, but at a diminished capacity. CP at 181. Indeed, but for the City's termination of the TSA, 10 NWA

would utilize its transloader facility on a daily basis. CP at 181. Although 10 NWA is unable to calculate its exact damages, it has certainly incurred financial losses as a result of City's actions against TCRY. CP at 422.

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

10 NWA filed suit against City for Inverse Condemnation,
Regulatory Taking, Breach of Contract Including Duty of Good Faith and
Fair Dealing, and Tortious Interference with Contractual Relations. CP at
6-18. Damages were to be proven at trial. CP at 15-17. The City
eventually moved for summary judgment, which was granted as to all
claims. CP at 20-21, 615-17. 10 NWA sought reconsideration, and
amended the record in so doing pursuant to CR 59. CP at 621-637.

Included in the amended portion of the record were: (1)

Declaration of Brandon Johnson, counsel for 10 NWA, and attachment thereto; (2) Declaration of Paul Petit, general counsel for TCRY, and attachments thereto; and (3) Transcript of the Verbatim Report of

⁴ The Court may take judicial notice that the new facility was instead built in Moses Lake. http://www.genxeg.com/who-we-are/our-history/; CP at 165.

Proceedings.⁵ CP at 641-854. The City opposed the motion, and requested that those documents submitted therewith be stricken. CP at 853-876. The trial court denied the motion for reconsideration and struck the documents. CP at 877-79. This appeal timely followed. CP at 880-87.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review.

Summary judgment review is *de novo*, and this Court performs the same inquiry as the trial court. *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 270, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009). Summary judgment is proper if there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Id.*; *see also* CR 56(c).

A material fact is one upon which the outcome of the litigation

⁵ In particular, Mr. Petit's declaration and attachments were offered to show that in 2006 the City petitioned the Washington Utilities and Transportation Commission to grant an at-grade crossing at Center Parkway over tracks utilized by TCRY. CP at 757. The petition, opposed by TCRY, was denied because the crossing was deemed unsafe. CP at 767-769. Having failed to acquire the desired crossing by ordinary means, the City then embarked on the course of action that is the subject of this litigation. CP at 716.

depends, either in whole or in part. *Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan*North America, Inc., 169 Wn. App. 111, 118, 279 P.3d 487, review

denied, ---P.3d--- (2012). "Summary judgment is not proper if reasonable minds could draw different conclusions from undisputed facts or if all of the facts necessary to determine the issues are not present." Schwind v.

Underwriters at Lloyd's of London, 81 Wn. App. 293, 297-298, 914 P.2d

119, review denied, 130 Wn.2d 1003 (1996). Accordingly, summary judgment is only appropriate if a reasonable person could reach but one conclusion from all the evidence. Barker v. Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC, 131 Wn. App. 616, 624, 128 P.3d 663, review denied, 158 Wn.2d

1015 (2006).

A defendant in a civil action is entitled to summary judgment if he or she can demonstrate an absence or insufficiency of evidence to support an element that is essential to the plaintiff's claim. *Young v. Key Pharms.*, *Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 192 (1989). Where this occurs, there can be no genuine issues of material fact since a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the non-moving party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial. *Id.* In demonstrating the presence or sufficiency of evidence to support each element of a claim, a plaintiff is not entitled to merely rely on the allegations in the pleadings but must set forth specific facts demonstrating the existence of a genuine

issue of material fact exists. *Id.* Nevertheless, the non-moving party is entitled to have all evidence considered in a light most favorable to its position. *Gerken v. Mut. Of Enumclaw Ins. Co.*, 74 Wn. App. 220, 224-25, 872 P.2d 1108, *review denied*, 125 Wn.2d 1005 (1994). As discussed below, the trial court erred because 10 NWA's tortious interference and inverse condemnation claims survive a properly applied summary judgment standard since sufficient evidence exists to create genuine issues of material facts as to the elements of each claim.

B. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment as to 10 NWA's tortious interference claim because 10 NWA has, at a minimum, established a genuine material issue of fact as to those elements which are not themselves readily established when viewing all evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party.

A party claiming tortious interference with a contractual relationship or business expectancy must establish five elements: (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; (2) that the defendant had knowledge of that relationship; (3) an intentional interference that either induces or causes a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy; (4) that the defendant interfered for an improper purpose or used improper means; and (5) resultant damage.

Pacific Northwest Shooting Park Ass'n v. City of Sequim, 158 Wn.2d 342, 351, 144 P.3d 276 (2006). Here, the record demonstrates that when taken

in a light most favorable to 10 NWA, elements 1, 2, and 5 are easily met, and that there exists at a minimum, a genuine issue of material fact as to elements 3 and 4. Accordingly, the trial court erred in granting summary judgment.

Valid Contractual Relationship or Business Expectancy

For purposes of tortious interference, a valid business expectancy includes any prospective contractual or business relationship that would be of pecuniary value. *Newton Ins. Agency & Brokerage, Inc. v. Caledonian Ins. Group, Inc.*, 114 Wn. App. 151, 158, 52 P.3d 30 (2002), *review granted*, 148 Wn.2d 1021, *review withdrawn pursuant to settlement* (2003). Here, the record demonstrates that, for purposes of summary judgment, 10 NWA is able to show at least two such relationships.

It is manifest from the record that there existed between 10 NWA and TCRY a business relationship that was of pecuniary value, as 10 NWA relied upon TCRY to bring railcars including unit trains to its facilities located within the Horn Rapids Industrial Park. CP at 30, 49-59. Moreover, even a cursory glance illustrates the fact that 10 NWA's RMP was prepared with an exclusive focus on TCRY's services and actions as the rail carrier. CP at 49-59. Indeed, the plan specifically spells out how TCRY would attempt to mitigate the introduction of unit trains into North

Richland. CP at 59. This plan was accepted by the City. CP at 46.

Moreover, at the point that TCRY's TSA was terminated by the City, in its response, TCRY made clear to the City that TCRY owed an obligation of service to TCRY's customers along the Spur, including 10 NWA. CP at 62, 64.

Taking all facts and inferences in a light most favorable to 10 NWA, there exists then, more than sufficient evidence to establish the existence of a business expectancy that 10 NWA would receive rail service from TCRY on the Horn Rapids Spur.

The record also demonstrates that there existed at the time of the interference a second business expectancy. Specifically, it shows that 10 NWA and Gen-X signed a letter of intent between to build a biofuel facility within 10 NWA's original 33-acre purchase, based on rail service by TCRY. CP at 421, 540-41. Indeed, the existence of such an agreement is referenced both by Mr. Peterson, and the City's internal email. CP at 421, 540-41. Accordingly, when taken in the light most favorable to 10 NWA, the record is easily sufficient to demonstrate the existence of a business expectancy for summary judgment purposes. To the extent the trial court concluded otherwise, it was in error.

Knowledge

The record is also sufficient to defeat summary judgment on this element because it illustrates that City had knowledge of both 10 NWA's business relationship with TCRY and its business expectancy with Gen-X.

The Purchase and Sale Agreement expressly stated that the primary use of the property was to create business expectancies that were to be serviced by rail – specifically, by TCRY, through the TSA that was in place at the time. CP at 33. The agreement was signed by agents of the City. CP at 37. Moreover, as a condition precedent to the sale, the City required 10 NWA to submit, and itself to accept, an RMP. CP at 30. The RMP was prepared by TCRY at 10 NWA's request. CP at 49-59. The City acknowledges that the purpose of the RMP was to bind both 10 NWA and TCRY. CP at 41. The City also acknowledges that its subsequent termination of TCRY's rail access to the Horn Rapids Spur placed additional pressure on the Peterson family because it also owned 10 NWA. CP at 537.

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