FEB 1 3 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

### NO. 311171

# COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III

### STATE OF WASHINGTON

10 NORTH WASHINGTON AVENUE, LLC, A Washington limited liability company,

Appellant,

VS.

CITY OF RICHLAND, a municipal corporation

Respondent.

### RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

LEAVY, SCHULTZ, DAVIS & FEARING, P.S. GEORGE FEARING WSBA #12970 Attorneys for Respondent 2415 W. Falls Avenue Kennewick, WA 99336 509-736-1330



FEB 1 3 2013

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

NO. 311171

## COURT OF APPEALS FOR DIVISION III

### STATE OF WASHINGTON

10 NORTH WASHINGTON AVENUE, LLC, A Washington limited liability company,

Appellant,

VS.

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. AS A MATTER OF LAW RICHLAND DID NOT TORTIOUSLY INTERFERE WITH ANY BUSINESS EXPECTANCY.

The tort of interference with a business expectancy prohibits wrongful interference of a valid contractual expectancy by third parties. *Johnson v. Yousoofian*, 84 Wn.App. 755, 763, 930 P.2d 921 (1997). The prima facie elements are: (1) the existence of a valid contractual relationship or business expectancy; (2) knowledge of the relationship or expectancy on the part of the interferor; (3) intentional interference inducing or causing a breach or termination of the relationship or expectancy; (4) that the interferor interfered for an improper purpose or used improper means; and (5) resultant damage. *Johnson v. Yousoofian*, 84 Wn.App. 755, 763, 930 P.2d 921 (1997). In response to Richland's summary judgment motion, 10 NWA failed to show facts supporting elements 1, 3, 4, and 5.

### 1. NO VALID BUSINESS EXPECTANCY.

The first element of tortious interference with business expectancy is a valid business expectancy. On appeal, 10 NWA contends Richland interfered with two business expectancies, a relationship with TCRY and a letter of intent with Gen-X. Before the Superior Court, 10 NWA argued that the two business expectancies, with which Richland interfered, were a

contract with Central Washington Corn Processors and the letter of intent with Gen-X. 10 NWA did not contend that Richland interfered with a relationship with TCRY. CP 412, 3. Therefore, this reviewing court should not entertain a claim based upon any alleged relationship with TCRY. An appellate court generally will not address claims not addressed by the trial court. Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002); Outsource Services Management, v. Nooksack Business Corp., \_\_ Wn.App. \_\_, 292 P.3d 147, \_\_\_ (2013).

10 NWA's claim based upon a purported letter of intent with Gen-X cannot be considered a valid business expectancy for at least two reasons. First, 10 NWA did not produce a copy of a letter of intent. Second, a letter of intent would be terminable at will and a terminable at will agreement cannot form the basis for a claim of tortious interference.

In his declaration opposing the summary judgment motion,
Randolph Peterson referred to a letter of intent with Gen-X Energy Group.
CP 421. He failed to attach a copy of the letter, however. Nor was any
letter produced in discovery. Richland moved the court for an order
striking the declaration on the ground of the best evidence rule, ER 1002,
which requires production of the writing to prove its contents. CP 545, 6.
Also, CR 56(e) demands that the declarant attach sworn copies of papers
mentioned in the affidavit. CP 546. The Superior Court denied the

motion to strike, CP 616, perhaps because striking the declaration would not have made a difference in the outcome. Nevertheless, this court may affirm the summary judgment order on a basis other than used by the trial court. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). This court may affirm summary judgment on any grounds supported by the record. *Blue Diamond Group, Inc. v. KB Seattle 1, Inc.*, 163 Wn.App. 449, 453, 266 P.3d 881 (2011).

If the contract, upon which the plaintiff bases his claim of a business expectancy, is terminable at will, Washington courts have held that the element of the tort is not satisfied. See *Woody v. Stapp*, 146 Wn.App. 16, 189 P.3d 807 (2008); *Raymond v. Pacific Chemical*, 98 Wn.App. 739, 992 P.2d 517 (1999), reversed on other grounds, *Brown v. Scott Paper Worldwide Co.*, 143 Wn.2d 349, 20 P.3d 921 (2001). A letter of intent must be considered terminable at will, since a letter of intent is non-binding. *Farm Crop Energy, Inc. v. Old Nat. Bank of Washington*, 38 Wn.App. 50, 59, 685 P.2d 1097 (1984); *Van Leer v. Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc.*, 479 Fed.Appx. 475, 480 (4th Cir.2012); *Minelli Const. Co., Inc. v. Volmar Const., Inc.*, 82 A.D.3d 720, 721, 2, 917 N.Y.S.2d 687 (2011); *Midtown Realty, Inc. v. Hussain*, 712 So.2d 1249 (Fla.App.1998). In *Farm Crop Energy, Inc. v. Old Nat. Bank of Washington*, the court ruled that the trial court could have instructed the jury that a letter of intent

was not binding, although its failure to so instruct was not prejudicial error.

### 2. NO INTENT TO INTERFERE.

The third element of the tort of interference with a business expectancy has two discrete components: (1) an intent to interfere with plaintiff's business expectancy; and (2) a termination of the business expectancy. Under the undisputed facts 10 NWA fails to satisfy each component of the third element of tortious interference.

Proof of the tort of interference requires a showing of an intent to interfere with the private business relation. Burke & Thomas, Inc. v.

International Organization of Masters, Mates & Pilots, West Coast and Pac. Region Inland Division, Branch 6, 92 Wn.2d 762, 768, 600 P.2d 1282 (1979). Conduct is generally not improper if it was merely a consequence of actions taken for a purpose other than to interfere with a contract. 44B Am.Jur.2d Interference §17 (2013). Green v. Racing Ass'n of Cent. Iowa, 713 N.W.2d 234, 244 (Iowa.2006). Richland hopes the best for 10 NWA, since it is one of the city's taxpayers. Other than a misreading of an e-mail, 10 NWA presented no testimony that Richland intended to interfere in any of 10 NWA' business relationships. 10 NWA's one agent, who had the most contact with Richland, testified that Richland representatives held no ill will towards 10 NWA.

#### 3. NO TERMINATION OF A BUSINESS RELATIONSHIP.

A tort occurs when a person, without a privilege to do so, induces or otherwise purposely causes a third person not to enter into or continue a business relation with another, or not to perform a contract with another.

44B Am.Jur.2d *Interference* §1 (2013). A necessary element of the tort of interference is a showing that the defendant played an active and substantial part in causing the loss to plaintiff. 44B Am.Jur.2d *Interference* §17 (2013). One who, without a privilege to do so, induces or otherwise purposely causes a third person not to (a) perform a contract with another, or (b) enter into or continue a business relation with another is liable to the other for the harm caused thereby. *Houser v. City of Redmond*, 16 Wn.App. 743, 745, 559 P.2d 577 (1977).

The undisputed facts show that Richland's revocation of the Temporary Service Agreement did not end TCRY's business with 10 NWA. TCRY still conducts business with 10 NWA and still uses the Horn Rapids Spur and 10 NWA's pit facility and loop track. CP 74, 148, 157, 158, 174, 180, 181. 10 NWA also agrees that it could build its own spur track and thereby afford TCRY additional access to 10 NWA's pit facility and loop track. CP 182.

10 NWA argues that Gen-X relocated its proposed project to

Moses Lake, but it provides no testimony from Gen-X representatives as

to the reason for the relocation. The facts show that TCRY continued to have access to 10 NWA's rail facilities anyway and even could gain additional access such that the lack of rail service for Gen-X could not reasonably be a cause of any relocation to Moses Lake.

### 4. NO IMPROPER PURPOSE NOR MEANS.

10 NWA's tortious interference fails as a matter of law for a fourth reason. 10 NWA cannot satisfy element four of the tort- that Richland engaged in an improper purpose or acted with an improper means.

Interference is for an improper purpose if it is wrongful by some measure beyond the interference itself, such as a statute, regulation, recognized rule of common law, or an established standard of trade or profession. *Moore v. Commercial Aircraft Interiors, LLC*, 168 Wn.App. 502, 510, 278 P.3d 197 (2012). When interfering in a business relationship, the defendant generally persuades through bribery, unfounded litigation, defamation, misrepresentations, or threats to a third party to end a business relationship with the plaintiff. 44B Am.Jur.2d *Interference* §17 (2013). As a general rule, the defendant's conduct must amount to a crime or an independent tort. Conduct that is not criminal or tortious will generally be "lawful" and thus insufficiently "culpable" to create liability for interference with prospective contracts or other nonbinding economic relations. *Carvel Corp. v. Noonan*, 3 N.Y.3d 182, 190, 818 N.E.2d 1100

(2004). This is not the case here. 10 NWA cites no statute, regulation, rule of common law, or established standard of trade violated by Richland. 10 NWA principally relies upon Cherberg v. Peoples National Bank of Washington, 88 Wn.2d 595, 564 P.2d 1137 (1977). Cherberg's landlord refused to repair damaged outside walls within a reasonable time after notification from the city that the building was structurally unsound. The landlord's refusal to act constituted a breach of the implied covenant of quiet enjoyment and resulted in actionable constructive eviction. Even absent the mandate from the city, the landlord was under the duty to repair the outside wall since it expressly retained control over such portions of the premises under the lease. Evidence showed that the landlord refused to timely make the repairs because it wished tenant Cherberg to abandon his lease, so that the property could be put to a more profitable use. The court ruled that the willful refusal to make repairs, when the landlord held a duty to do so, could give rise to an action in tort for intentional interference with the tenant's business expectancies with third parties. Unlike Cherberg's landlord, Richland did not wilfully breach any provision of an agreement with 10 NWA. Richland has not attempted to drive 10 NWA from its property.

10 NWA complains that Richland demanded, in the permanent

Track Use Agreement, that TCRY give up rights to use Richland Junction.

Richland and TCRY entered a Temporary Service Agreement, in 2001, that permitted the latter to operate on the spur for a period of thirty (30) days. The agreement explicitly provided that, after the 30-day period, the agreement could be terminated by either party on ten days' written notice. In 2010, both Union Pacific and BNSF signed the new Track Use Agreement covering the Horn Rapids Spur. Richland offered the same Track Use Agreement to TCRY and remains willing to enter the agreement with TCRY. TCRY even continues to use the Horn Rapids Spur as the agent of Union Pacific.

The City's efforts to relocate the rail interchange operation away from Richland Junction violated no law nor obligation to any party. Under 49 U.S.C. §10742, "connecting carriers are required to interchange traffic with each other. Usually they do so on the basis of mutual agreement.

This is an operational matter that carriers should be able to settle themselves." Norfolk Southern Railway Company -- Petition for Declaratory Order -- Interchange with Reading Blue Mountain & Northern Railroad Company, Docket No. 42078 (STB<sup>5</sup> served April 29, 2003) at 4 [2003 WL 1963547]. As a result, "the determination of an interchange point for the required through movement is, in the first instance, 'a matter of mutual consultation and agreement' between the two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Surface Transportation Board

carriers." Central Power & Light Co. v. Southern Pac. Transp. Co., 2

S.T.B. 235, 243 (1997) (quoting New York, C. & St. L. R. Co. v. New York

Cent. R. Co., 317 I.C.C. 344, 346 (1961)).

Richland had the right to terminate the Temporary Service Agreement. Otherwise, TCRY, controlled by the same owners as 10 NWA, would have sued Richland for wrongful termination. Richland need not even prove that it was legally correct to revoke the Temporary Service Agreement, as long as the city had a reasonable basis for believing its action was lawful. A party is not guilty of tortious interference if it acts pursuant to its own lawful economic interests. Birkenwald Distributing Co. v. Heublein, Inc., 55 Wn.App. 1, 11, 776 P.2d 721 (1989). Exercising one's legal interests in good faith is not improper interference. Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan North America, Inc., 169 Wn.App. 111, 132, 279 P.3d 487 (2012). A defendant who in good faith asserts a legally protected interest of his own which he believes may be impaired by the performance of a proposed transaction is not guilty of tortious interference. Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan North America, Inc., 169 Wn.App. 111, 132, 279 P.3d 487 (2012).

In Tacoma Auto Mall, Inc. v. Nissan North America, Inc., a car manufacturer refused to consent to a dealer's request to transfer a dealer franchise to a third party. The dealer agreement allowed the manufacturer the right to refuse. The Court of Appeals therefore summarily dismissed the dealer's claim of tortious interference with its agreement to sell the franchise.

Richland need not disclose its reason for demanding the end to the use of Richland Junction as an railroad interchange, but the city has done so anyway. Richland wants a grade crossing at Richland Junction, in order to facilitate traffic and further economic expansion in the neighborhood. Richland wishes to "spur" commercial development and to raise the city's tax base. The court should encourage these goals of Richland. Furthering economic growth is a legitimate public purpose. Public Utility Dist. No. 2 of Grant County v. North American Foreign Trade Zone Industries, LLC, 159 Wn.2d 555, 151 P.3d 176 (2007); Kelo v. City of New London, 268 Conn. 1, 843 A.2d 500, 530 (2004); aff'd 545 U.S. 469 (2005); General Bldg. Contractors, L.L.C. v. Board of Shawnee County Com'rs, Shawnee County, 275 Kan. 525, 66 P.3d 873, 880 (2003); and Dannheiser v. City of Henderson, 4 S.W.3d 542, 546, 7 (1999). 10 NWA cites no law to the end that these goals are improper purposes. Therefore, 10 NWA has not provided evidence of Richland employing an improper means. See Johnson v. Yousoofian, 84 Wn.App. 755, 763, 930 P.2d 921 (1997).

10 NWA argues that Richland acted "arbitrary and capricious," but this argument was not advanced at the trial court level. See CP 411-3. An appellate court generally will not address claims not addressed by the trial court. Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002); Outsource Services Management, LLC v. Nooksack Business Corp., \_\_ Wn.App. \_\_, 292 P.3d 147, \_\_\_ (2013). A city's action is "arbitrary," if it is "willful and unreasonable action, without consideration and regard for facts and circumstances." Landmark Development, Inc. v. City of Roy, 138 Wn.2d 561, 573, 980 P.2d 1234 (1999). Steps taken to further economic development are not unreasonable. 10 NWA cites no law to the contrary. If Richland's actions were arbitrary and capricious, TCRY should be the one to sue Richland.

For the first time on appeal, 10 NWA suggests that Richland violated the Temporary Service Agreement with TCRY by failing to negotiate in good faith a new agreement. The final paragraph in the Temporary Service Agreement includes this language. Once again, an appellate court generally will not address claims not addressed by the trial court. Wingert v. Yellow Freight Systems, Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853, 50 P.3d 256 (2002). Anyway, 10 NWA failed to present, in its opposition to the summary judgment motion, facts concerning negotiations. Richland and TCRY negotiated over a period of years. Richland eventually offered TCRY the same terms the city offered others using the Horn Rapids Spur. If Richland violated the provision of the Temporary Service Agreement,

TCRY could have sued Richland.

### 5. NO DAMAGES.

An essential element of a claim of tortious interference is damages. 44B Am.Jur.2d *Interference* §14 (2013). An action cannot be maintained for interference with a contract for breach of which only nominal damages could be recovered. *Worldwide Primates, Inc. v. McGreal*, 26 F.3d 1089, 1092 (11th Cir.1994), applying Florida law.

Demanding that TCRY forgo rights at Richland Junction has not resulted in any damages. TCRY does not use Richland Junction anymore, so its signing of a Track Use Agreement, under which it released rights to use the junction, could cause no harm. CP 169. TCRY interchanged cars with Burlington Northern and Union Pacific at Richland Junction, but BNSF ended its relationship with TCRY before Richland asked TCRY to sign the Track Use Agreement. BNSF no longer wanted to conduct business with TCRY. Union Pacific and TCRY have agreed to interchange rail traffic at another location. BNSF and Union Pacific released rights to use Richland Junction.

In depositions, 10 NWA' agents could not answer questions as to what, if any, damages it sustained due to conduct of Richland. 10 NWA also failed to respond to interrogatories asking for information on damages and requests for production seeking financial records supporting a claim

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